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  The notion that the First World War was futile and wasteful is one of the clichés of history. However, that idea is itself less the product of the war’s history

  than its literature. The writings of Henri Barbusse, Vera Brittain, Robert Graves, Erich Maria Remarque and Siegfried Sassoon, to name only the best known, illustrate a paradox – that from

  destruction came forth creativity. Critics have credited the war with the birth of modernism. In searching for a language more able to express what they had experienced, authors shed the

  conventions of the nineteenth century in favour of uncluttered prose and understated irony.




  It was a literary war, but that was in part because it was also a literate one. The works that have now entered the canon represent the tip of a very large iceberg. Most of the belligerent

  populations could read and write. This was not true of previous wars. The combination of compulsory primary education and cheap printing, both developments of the last third of the nineteenth

  century, created an expanding market for the published word, whose most obvious sign was the number of mass-circulation newspapers. No war before 1914 had been so written about; no war after 1918

  would be so uniquely captured by a single medium. The First World War was filmed and photographed; its participants were recorded. But the technologies of sight and sound had yet to rival that of

  the printed word. In 1939 the radio and the newsreel would do so.




  The classification of this output is easier in theory than in practice. Propaganda occupies one end of the spectrum and poetry the other. But poets could reflect the themes of propagandists, and

  the most effective propaganda mirrored as much as manipulated the fears and anxieties of the people. Private diaries can carry xenophobia and nationalism far more virulent than that published in

  pamphlets and press. Censorship was never so tight that opposition to the war was totally muzzled, nor were the voices of one side totally inaudible in the other.




  The war’s participants wrote not just because they had the ability to do so, but also because they were conscious that they were living through a historic moment. Today’s media are

  fond of describing the most trivial events as historic – and so they are, because once they have occurred they belong in the past. But the epithet also carries connotations of significance

  and meaning. In August 1914, nobody underestimated the import of what was happening. They knew that their world would be changed by the war. For some this was a threat; the older generation feared

  the breakdown of a managed, secure and prosperous order. For others it was an opportunity – this would be a war to end all wars, it would be a war to cause revolutions, it would be an

  enormous personal adventure.




  Most of the voices gathered in this book are those of young people, ostensibly more likely to be in the second category than in the first. Indeed, some of them never reached old age. Televised

  interviews with survivors of the war have left an image that this was a war fought by old people. But in the intergenerational frictions of 1914–18 it was a war caused by the old people, and

  then sustained by, and at the expense of, the young. Moreover, after the war the frustrations of youth were compounded. Those same politicians who had come to power before the war were still in

  power after it, and they completed their follies by botching the peace settlement as well. In that respect at least, it seemed as though the war had not been a historic moment, because nothing had

  changed.




  The First World War was a global war from its outset. Thirteen different nationalities are represented in the following pages. That in itself is one of the reasons for the book’s

  importance. Represented here are people that the English-language literary tradition, with its focus on the Western Front, and even more on the British army’s experience of that front,

  forgets. Too few German and French eyewitness accounts have been translated. They are here, but so too are Russians, Serbs, Turks, Austrians, Italians and Americans. Still there are absentees. Even

  literacy had its limits in 1914–18. The First World War was the biggest collective experience undergone by Africa up until that date, but few Africans were sufficiently literate to write

  diaries or letters. Their testimony, when we have it, is part of an oral tradition, recorded much later.




  One or two names will be familiar. Rudolf Hess, who did live to a great age, albeit mostly in Spandau prison, gives vent to the frustrations which explain the later appeal of National Socialism.

  Richard Meinertzhagen, whose diaries were published in his own lifetime, wrote entertainingly (and, it has to be said, self-servingly) about hunting and ornithology as well as soldiering. But many

  of the first-hand accounts which follow have never appeared in print before, even in their native languages. Moreover, the voices we hear are not just those of soldiers and sailors but of women and

  children as well. Yves Congar and Piete Kuhr moved from infancy through adolescence in 1914–18: it was a formative experience for them even if they did not fight.




  The phrase ‘total war’ was not one much used in 1914–18. It was coined as part of the rhetoric of the French government formed by Georges Clemenceau in November 1917. But after

  the war was over, those who had been through it were clear that it had been something they called total war. Many of them also concluded that that would be the pattern of the future. They reckoned

  that the mobilisation of the nation’s entire resources would be required, and everybody – non-combatant as well as combatant – would be involved in its conduct. Most of the women

  and children we encounter here are passive rather than active participants. They can be caught up in the fighting, besieged as Helena Jabłońska was, or living

  under occupation as Yves Congar did. More often, however, they are removed from the direct experience of combat, and feel its effects through economic controls, through propaganda, or through the

  loss of loved ones. They are reactive, but their reactions are important, because without their consent the nation could not maintain its war effort. Indeed, as the letters from those at the front

  make clear, the steadfast support of those at home was crucial to the morale of those at the front. One corollary of mass mobilisation was these accounts; another was that the armies became armies

  of citizens rather than of soldiers.




  These testimonies contain a wealth of insights for the historian. Svetlana Palmer and Sarah Wallis have woven them together with remarkable skill. First, they have given them shape, so that the

  place of an individual in the wider war is clear, and his or her words can therefore be read as part of that bigger event. Secondly, they have edited them so that we can engage with their hopes,

  fears and peccadilloes. There is poignancy and humanity here, without cliché.




   




  HEW STRACHAN




  All Souls College, Oxford
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  You must not tell lies in your diary




  Piete Kuhr, 1st August 1914




  Behind each of the first-hand accounts in this book there is a story about how it survived for nearly ninety years. To write and preserve them in the first place involved

  various degrees of risk. One of the diaries ends mid-sentence as its author unwittingly records his own end. Within weeks, the officer who rescued the tiny notebook from his compatriot died too.

  This time a combatant from the opposite side saved the diary for its propaganda value. It was soon translated and published in a newspaper interspersed with venomous editorial comments. This, along

  with the danger of letting slip operational information, was precisely the reason why diary writing was discouraged. Scottish POW Duggie Lyall Grant, released from German captivity during the war,

  was aware of this danger and had his orderly sew pages of his diary into the waistband of his kilt, concealing the rest inside the bag of his bagpipe. The trouble Lyall Grant took paid off and he

  succeeded in smuggling the carefully hidden diary across the border to neutral Holland.




  But even when the accounts, if not their authors, survived the war, many were at risk of oblivion, stashed away in soon forgotten boxes. Few people ever go through the personal memorabilia

  cluttering the dusty corners of their attics. Some of the diaries have reappeared by pure coincidence. Like the diary of Russian soldier Vasily Mishnin, found in a house clearance in his hometown

  of Penza decades after the war. Or the three notebooks, covered in tiny handwriting in Ottoman Turkish, offered to a Turkish historian browsing one day through a second-hand bookstall in an

  Istanbul market.




  Although several of the accounts have been published posthumously in their own countries, none of the twenty-eight men, women and children whose diaries and letters feature in this book were

  professional writers at the time, nor were their accounts intended for publication. One exception was the youngest of them all, ten-year-old French schoolboy Yves Congar, who did write with future

  readers in mind. Yet even he soon forgot about this once the war ended. His journal, filling five beautifully illustrated exercise books, remained private until his death at the venerable age of

  ninety-one.




  From the hundreds of accounts we read in the course of research for Channel 4’s television series The First World War and this book, we selected twenty-eight for their character,

  vividness, humour and originality. The process was entirely subjective. Between us we have spent years living, studying and working in Germany and Russia. So we both have a natural bias towards the

  little-known Eastern Front and many of our discoveries came from there. The Serbian and Italian diaries were uncovered by Milan Grba and Martina Cavicchioli during extensive research for the

  series.




  To be included, each account had to tell a unique story and sustain our interest. If we were not riveted, we rejected it outright. While trawling through stories of the war at sea in the

  Imperial War Museum’s normally quiet reading room, an entry from a young British midshipman describing his conquests while on leave made us laugh out loud and ensured his diary’s place

  in the book.




  ‘Isn’t it depressing to spend months and months reading and writing about the First World War?’ was the question our friends and colleagues most frequently asked, surprised by

  our enthusiasm for the project. The answer was ‘no’. Diarists and correspondents became familiar personalities, each with their own idiosyncrasies, engaging and full of surprises. Our

  motivation was to tell their stories in their own words. Words which were written without hindsight, often on the same day and in the same place as the events happened and as the diarists paused to

  reflect on their experiences. To build a narrative we have abridged the often lengthy accounts, some of them hundreds of pages long and intercut them in each chapter with one or more accounts

  expressing the view of someone on the opposite side. The selection process was often painful, our choices influenced by the timescale of significant episodes in the war and those we felt were

  personally significant to the individuals concerned or gave an insight into his or her character.




  Most of the material we use are diaries – by their nature intimate and honest accounts – but four come from candid and frequent letter-writers whose missives escaped the censor and

  reached their parents, siblings or fiancees on a regular basis. We have made exceptions to our rule of only using contemporary accounts in three cases: Richard Meinertzhagen’s diary of his

  experience in East Africa was published in his lifetime, but proved too irresistible to leave out; Dmitry Oskin’s entertaining depiction of his exploits on the Eastern Front and his

  subsequent account of the Russian Revolution were based on his contemporary diary, expanded and amended for publication after the war; and finally, we have included an oral history account from

  Guinean soldier Kande Kamara, a remarkable testimony to an experience of the war we would have otherwise had to leave out, for no known African diaries of the conflict exist. There are many other

  nationalities, in particular Indian, which we have sadly been unable to include in this edition due to the absence of complete diaries or full letter exchanges. For the same reason we were unable

  to feature the experiences of many others involved in campaigns in Europe and beyond. Aware as we are of these omissions, we await further discoveries with great interest.




  For the sake of clarity we have corrected the spelling of familiar French towns and villages, but have left the spelling of some Polish villages as they appear in the original German, Russian

  and Polish diaries. We have refrained, too, from altering the punctuation of diaries or letters originally written in English. Two of the young men had little formal education: Winnie McClare owes

  his spelling to leaving school early to help run his father’s farm; and Robert Cude’s punctuation seemed to be an integral part of his writing style.




  We owe big thanks to a number of people who have encouraged and guided us often beyond their remit: The First World War Series Producer Jonathan Lewis, Professor Hew

  Strachan and Alan Clements, Managing Director of Wark Clements & Company, without whom this book might never have come about; Natasha Fairweather, our agent at A. P. Watt and a constant source

  of encouragement; Andrew Gordon and Martin Bryant, our patient and enthusiastic editors at Simon & Schuster; our colleague and mentor Isobel Hinshelwood; Angus Macqueen, whose generosity

  contributed greatly to the project; and Miriam Ravich and Ruthie Smith.




  The following people either in their own books or in person have brought individual diaries to our attention, for which we are greatly indebted: Stéphane Audoin-Rouzeau, Julie Berranger,

  Malcolm Brown, Martina Cavicchioli, Jacques Clémens, Ann Dunemil, H. Basri Danisman and Turgay Erol, Orlando Figes, Bill Gammage, Milan Grba, O. Gschliesser, Joe Lunn, Verena Moritz and

  Hannes Leid, Michael Moynihan, Sergei Poltorak, Irina Renz and Valentin Zemtsov.




  We were helped immeasurably, often at a distance, by the staff of several archives, libraries and institutions who went out of their way to be of assistance: Dr Zdravko Antonic; Naiomi Cox at

  the Australian War Memorial; Adam Dryś; David Keough at the US Military History Archive Carlisle; the staff of the Documents Department at the Imperial War Museum

  and the British Library; Dwight Messimer; Dr Mögle-Hofacker, Head of the Hauptstaatsarchiv in Stuttgart; the Przemyśl Scientific Historical Institute and the

  National Museum of the Przemyśl Region in Poland; Irina Renz at the Bibliotek für Zeitgeschichte in Stuttgart; Angelika Siljaew; Dr Karl Rossa at the

  Kriegsarchiv in Vienna and Dr Christa Hämmerle at the University of Vienna; Jane and Stuart Warren.




  One of the greatest pleasures in producing this book has been to come into contact with relatives of the diary writers, all of whom have answered endless questions, provided photographs and

  helped to bring us closer to the authors of these accounts. Our thanks to Madame Cambon, Henri Cambon, Dominique Congar, Dr Ljiljana Klisić-Djordjevic, Daphne

  Robinson, Dragoslav Marković, Dale McClare, Randle Meinertzhagen, Alexandra Mishnin, and Anja Ott for their assistance.




  For their patience, astute comments, criticism and encouragement on reading the early drafts of the manuscript we are grateful to Paul Bernays, Natasha Fairweather, Eleanor Jacob, Will Jacob,

  Sergei Palmer, John and Tamsin Slyce, Charlotte and John Wallis, Duncan Noble and Nick Richards. Stephen Sharkey has done a fantastic job unifying the translations and helping to convey the tone of

  the original texts.




  A big thank you to Gregor Murbach for helping to source and put together the photographs and illustrations and to Reg Piggott for the maps.




  A huge thank you to all of the following for the care and precision of their excellent translations: Mr H. Basri Danisman for kind permission to use his translation of Mehmed Fasih’s

  diary; Martina Cavicchioli for the translation of Virgilio Bonamore’s diary; Claire Derouesne for her translations of the French diaries; Helen Ferguson for her translations of the Hess

  letters and the diaries of Ernst Nopper, Dmitry Oskin, Vasily Mishnin, Dr Josef Tomann and Alexei Zyikov; Klara Kemp-Welch for her translation of Helena Jabłońska’s diary; Sabine Pusch for her translation of Paul Hub’s letters; Vanessa Vassic for the final Serbian translations; Mick Wright for the original translation of

  Piete Kuhr’s diary; Tatjana Paunovic and her team for their collaborative work on the Serbian translations.




  Our big personal thanks go to Ben, Eleanor, Paul, Tristan, Will and Zig who have been a constant source of support and distraction.




  And finally our thanks to the twenty-eight men and women whose remarkable accounts form the basis of this book.




   




  SVETLANA AND SARAH,




  London 2003




  





  A WAR


  IN WORDS


  

  




      [image: ]




  





  Chapter 1




  [image: ]




  THE FIRST SHOTS




  28th June–30th July 1914




  On 28th June 1914 Archduke Franz Ferdinand, the heir to the Austro-Hungarian throne, and his wife, Sophie, were assassinated during a state visit to Sarajevo, capital of

  the Austro-Hungarian province of Bosnia-Herzegovina. The fatal shots were fired by nineteen-year-old Gavrilo Princip, a Bosnian Serb who wanted Bosnian unification with Serbia and independence from

  the Austro-Hungarian Empire. Franz Ferdinand, as a member of the ruling Habsburg family, was a symbol of that ancient, multi-national empire and the repression of its minorities. Unknown to his

  assassin, the archduke, who was an advocate of political reform, had recently given an after-dinner toast: ‘To peace! What would we get out of war with Serbia? We’d lose the lives of

  young men and we’d spend money better used elsewhere. And what would we gain, for heaven’s sake? A few plum trees, some pastures full of goat droppings, and a bunch of rebellious

  killers.’




  Now he was dead. The Austrian army’s Chief of the General Staff thought differently about a war with Serbia. On 23rd July, Vienna will issue an ultimatum with demands unlikely to be

  met in Belgrade. Five days later Austro-Hungarian troops will invade with the backing of Germany. Two Balkan wars had gripped this unstable region in the early twentieth century. But this time what

  could have been the third Balkan War will become a world war.




  *




  The youngest of the assassins involved in the plot to kill Archduke Franz Ferdinand left an account of his role in the assassination. Seventeen-year-old Vaso

  Čubrilović, a Bosnian Serb from Basanska Gradiska, was educated in the Bosnian town of Tuzla, then part of the

  Austro-Hungarian Empire. The Habsburgs had only recently wrested control of Bosnia and Herzegovina from the Ottoman Empire, which had ruled large parts of the Balkans for four hundred years. While

  Bosnia exchanged one imperial rule for another, for over three decades neighbouring Serbia had been an independent kingdom. The very existence of Serbia inspired many still living under foreign

  rule to hope for independence. This, in turn, threatened the stability of the Habsburgs who ruled an empire of at least ten different nationalities, any one of which could have attempted to follow

  Serbia’s example. Like his fellow assassin Gavrilo Princip, Vaso Čubrilović was a member of Young Bosnia,

  an underground organisation with one main aspiration: the creation of a southern Slav state, Yugoslavia, which would unite Serbs, Croats and Slovenes, be they Orthodox, Catholic or Muslim, in a new

  state free from both Ottoman and Habsburg influence.




  Vaso Čubrilović is spared execution for his part in the plot, as he is under twenty. In

  a letter to his sisters, Vida and Staka, written while serving a sixteen-year sentence in prison, he explains how he came to participate in one of the world’s most notorious

  assassinations.




  Zenica Prison, 1918




  I shall write as much as I can remember about the assassination. I first thought of it in October 1913 in Tuzla, incensed by the fights we had with our teachers, the

  mistreatment of Serbian students, and the general situation in Bosnia. I thought I’d rather kill the one person who’d really harmed our people than fight in another war for Serbia. All

  I’d achieve in a war is to kill a couple of innocent soldiers, while these gentlemen who were responsible for it would never come anywhere near the war itself.




  In January 1914 I was expelled from high school in Tuzla. I wavered for a while, unsure whether to escape to Serbia or come to you in Sarajevo. Finally, I decided to come to you. It was while

  staying with you in Sarajevo that I was introduced to various students, mainly to those who felt the same way as I did.
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    Vaso Čubrilović


  




  And then came April. I remember clearly reading in Srpska Reĉ [Serbian Word] and in Pobratimstvo [Fraternity] that Ferdinand was coming to Sarajevo. I

  immediately began thinking about an assassination. With all the anti-Austrian feelings at college, I was convinced that someone else must be planning it too. I knew that Lazar Djukić had gone to jail in 1910 for his role in a similar plot against the emperor. He was bound to know if anyone was plotting, and I decided to find out. I would join them, or at

  the very least persuade Djukić to hide the weapons I planned to obtain in Tuzla. While we were out walking one day he was telling me about the emperor’s visit

  in 1909.1 casually remarked that now Ferdinand was coming. ‘Yes,’ answered Djukić.




  I said, ‘We ought to welcome him.’ That was our code for assassination.




  ‘Ahem, yes, if we can find the people to do it,’ he said.




  ‘The people are there, but they’ve nothing to do it with.’




  ‘Weapons can always be found, if people really want them,’ he responded.




  Up until now our exchange seemed light-hearted, but at this point it got serious. I told him I was willing to do it and that my mind was made up. I just couldn’t find the weapons.




  Djukić introduced me to Danilo Ilić.2 He would also get me two bombs, a gun and some

  cyanide. All that Ilić told me was that there would be three others, apart from us three, and that Serbian officers were supplying the weapons. I asked if the

  Serbian government knew about it. He said no, in Serbia everything was being done in secret.3 We didn’t talk about it any more.




  We worried that the Sarajevan police might decide to remove us all from the city [during Ferdinand’s visit]. Besides, I wanted to leave you before the assassination, to avoid causing you

  problems. This is why I kept nagging Staka to let me leave before the exam results came out.




  On June 27th Ilić, Popović and I went to Bembasa, where Ilić gave us each a bomb and a gun. We had

  received our cyanide pills a couple of weeks earlier. Unfortunately, we didn’t know how to store them properly, so the pills got ruined in our pockets. Ilić

  told me my position would be by Danilo Dimović’s front door, while Cvjetko [Popović] was to stand on the corner by the

  Prosvjeta building. Popović and I were angry to be given such bad positions, but Ilić said we could choose better ones later.




  [On the morning of 28th June] I had my gun in my right pocket and the bomb tied to my belt. I tied my red tie to the belt at both ends and spread it out like a sack to hold the bomb, easy to

  take out but hidden from view.
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    Archduke Franz Ferdinand and his wife, Sophie, 28th June 1914


  




  At about 10 o’clock I saw a procession of cars approaching in our direction. Ferdinand’s car was the first, instead of an escort car. I can see them clearly even now. I saw Ferdinand

  greeting the crowd, touching his cavalry hat. Next to him sat his wife. She was dressed all in white and was holding a parasol. I asked a student who stood next to me whether this was definitely

  Ferdinand, and he confirmed it was. I took a few steps back towards the wall to throw my bomb, but the car was already right in front of me. All of a sudden I heard a loud crack, as if from a gun.

  I stopped, realising someone had thrown a bomb. I saw it hit the lowered roof of the car, bounce off and fall, just a few steps away from me. I could see it smoking and hissing like a steam engine.

  In an instant I threw myself on the ground. The heir [Franz Ferdinand] turned to see what was happening and the car stopped just feet away from Gavrilo [Princip] and Cvjetko [Popović], but in the confusion they did nothing. Fortunately, I was unharmed but almost everyone around me was wounded. The explosion made all six of us run in different directions. I

  then ran to Cemalusa street, for I was hoping to get Ferdinand there.




  The first assassination attempt has failed and the bomb thrower, Nedeljko Čabrinović, is

  arrested. But Franz Ferdinand and Sophie insist on continuing their journey to the city hall undeterred. After the official welcoming ceremony, they ask to be driven to the hospital to visit two

  soldiers wounded by the morning’s blast. The driver takes a wrong turn and Gavrilo Princip finds himself with a chance as the car approaches. Meanwhile Vaso waits at a road close to the river

  hoping for his turn.




  I stood waiting at Cemalusa street for ages, until I heard there had been another attack. When I got back to the riverbank I heard that Princip had shot Ferdinand and that

  Ferdinand had been driven away to his residency. I wish to add to this that we never intended to shoot Ferdinand’s wife, we wanted to exact revenge on [General] Potiorek4 for introducing martial law in 1912–13.




  I was so certain that I would carry out the assassination and then die myself, that I hadn’t thought about prison. And I didn’t think anyone would betray me. To tell you the truth,

  we were all somewhat exhilarated by then. We were determined, yes, but we couldn’t see straight. What we did we did out of our own free will, and yet I cannot help feeling that some stronger

  impulse drove us. Even now it seems that it wasn’t us at all who did it, that it was someone else altogether. Our trial reinforced that impression.




  All seven conspirators are young, only two of them over twenty.




  It was our misfortune that not one of us was maturer. The oldest was Ilić, but at 24 he too was practically a child. It was especially true of

  me and Popović. We were determined to kill Ferdinand, but we weren’t ready for such deeds. They require maturity, a cool head and caution, traits we could not

  have had at 17 or 18 years of age. Besides, we had no counsel, no one to encourage us, unlike the three who prepared in Serbia.5 But even they said they

  had hesitated. Čabrinović told me he didn’t know how he took the bomb out and threw it. The same was true of Princip. Of us all

  he was the coolest, the best mentally prepared. He carried out the attack mechanically – this much is obvious when you analyse the assassination.




  Gavrilo Princip and Nedeljko Čabrinoviĉ are arrested on the day of the assassination.

  They weaken under interrogation and confess some of the names of their co-conspirators who, in turn, betray others. The police are able to round up all seven principal plotters as well as members

  of their support network.




  If only we’d had better poison. Princip and Čabrinović would have died instantly as soon as they swallowed

  the cyanide. Instead, we all ended up in the hands of sly judges, with no chance to agree on our stories beforehand. This was the main reason that so much had come out about our plot.




  Worst of all, Ilić, who was at the centre of it all, was the first to cave in and confess. I still cannot understand him. A man who was so stable and reliable, as

  it wasn’t his first plot – but he lost his nerve and betrayed us all. I don’t blame him. I know from my experience that at some moments in his life a man needs great mental

  resolve just to maintain his balance.




  When I was arrested and detained at Dubica, I didn’t even suspect it was because of the assassination. You can imagine my surprise when the police asked me where I’d left my bomb.

  Had it fallen on my head, I would have been less shocked. In a panic, I admitted giving it to Ivo [Kranjčević]. Luckily, instead of

  asking me more questions (I would have confessed everything), they rushed off to arrest Kranjčević, while I stayed alone with the

  chief spy, Pera Maksimović. He was too busy to interrogate me properly. I admitted no more than conspiring with Ilić. The

  interrogation lasted all night with officers coming in one after the other.




  The next day I was interrogated by the investigative judge, Sefer. Of course, I was still a child and Sefer was able to confuse me and lead me to confess. I took the whole thing lightly and made

  a joke of it. I didn’t care then, for Ferdinand had paid his due. I had no more to say. Ilić had already betrayed Djukić and

  Popović. As you can see, we all betrayed each other.




  Prison, with all the beatings, the hunger and the cold, cannot torment you as much as knowing that you could have spared someone the suffering, and you didn’t. In here you are alone. In

  solitary confinement there is nothing to distract you. You attack yourself. Your whole life passes through your mind and the smallest mistake, one you would never notice outside, becomes a matter

  for shame and regret.




  In my opinion, the assassination turned out well, considering who they gave the job to. In any event, it wasn’t our intention to cause a world war, and we truly believed just a couple of

  Serbian officers sent us the weapons. Had I got involved in a similar plot now, I would have done it all differently. But it matters little now. I was ready to die on 28th June 1914, so the life I

  have now is a gift I may not reject. In truth, I would rather I had died four years ago. This is no kind of life. This is a slow death, of spirit and body.




  There, I’ve written so much my hand aches. But be careful with this, as I have told you some things the court doesn’t know, to give you a better overview of my participation in the

  assassination.




  After his arrest on 20th July 1914, and subsequent trial, Vaso Čabrilović serves the first part of his

  sixteen-year sentence in Zenica Prison.




  *




  Slavka Mihajlović is a twenty-six-year-old doctor from an affluent and progressive family who lives in a tranquil, leafy area of

  Belgrade, capital of independent Serbia. Newly qualified, she has lived through two local wars in the last three years and has already worked as an army doctor. She is enjoying the brief period of

  peace. But blame for the recent assassinations in Sarajevo has been laid on Belgrade, and Austrian demands to extradite the conspirators for trial in Vienna are unlikely to be met. The threat of

  war hangs once again over the Balkans as Slavka Mihajlović starts her diary.




  24th July 1914




  A beautiful sunny day has dawned. As I do every morning, I leave my house just before seven for the General State Hospital in Vracar. The streets are filled with people. Office

  workers hurry to their jobs, tardy peasants rush to take their goods to the market, while some housewives are already heading home with full baskets. Horse-drawn milk-floats clatter over the uneven

  Belgrade cobbles. The sun is scorching, no hint of a breeze, the air is muggy. I hurry down the street thinking, how are we going to operate on our patients in such heat?




  The head surgeon goes to his office and soon returns, serious and agitated. He invites all the doctors to his office. His green-blue eyes stare at us behind gilt-framed glasses. He then says:

  ‘Austria has sent an ultimatum to Serbia. Continue your work. I must report to the ministry at once.’ He leaves us with a nod and walks out of the hospital.




  We are astounded. We look at each other aghast, but must go back to work. Today’s operations have to go on. After the Sarajevo assassination we expected Serbia’s relations with

  Austria to get tense. We did not expect an ultimatum, however. The news spreads quickly around the hospital and causes alarm. Not just in the hospital. The whole town is in shock. Streets and cafes

  are filling up with anxious people. How will our government respond? Can a new war be avoided?




  It is less than a year since our little Serbia emerged from two bloody wars, with Turkey and Bulgaria. Some of the wounded still lie in hospital – are we to see more bloodshed and more

  tragedy?




  The two recent Balkan wars were fought between a shifting alliance of regional powers. Serbia doubled its territory at the expense of Turkey. Vienna, worried by any Serbian

  expansion, warned them off in 1913 and demanded the immediate withdrawal of their troops from Valona and Albania. Serbia complied. This time Austria-Hungary issues an ultimatum designed to provoke

  war, filled with clauses the Serbs cannot accept. It is delivered to Belgrade on the evening of 23rd July with the demand for a response within 48 hours. As the deadline approaches, Slavka records

  her impressions.




  25th July




  Throughout the day worried people gather in the streets. Everyone is discussing the news – at home, at their garden gates and in cafes. Even school children and youths

  wander the streets arguing.




  All day long there are rumours of enemy troops massing on Serbia’s northern borders, and that Zemun6 is full of soldiers. As the day draws to an

  end the crowds do not even consider going home.




  Just before sunset paperboys appeared with extra editions. People rushed to read hastily printed newspapers carrying the ‘Proclamation to the Nation’, in which the government urges

  people not to gather in the streets and not to panic, as there would be no war. Eventually the city calms down and falls asleep.




  Serbia’s reply to the ultimatum is fairly conciliatory but the government refuses to have Austrian representation in any internal enquiry into the assassination. On

  receipt of the reply, Austria-Hungary breaks off diplomatic relations with Serbia. Serbian mobilisation begins the same day in anticipation of an imminent attack.




  27th July




  Those arriving at the hospital this morning talk excitedly about the drum roll outside The Russian Tsar and other cafes, calling upon all conscripts to report to their district

  offices at once. After delivering its reply to the Austrian ambassador, the government is said to have declared a general mobilisation and then left for Niš. The

  Russian embassy staff has gone with them.




  Until yesterday Belgrade was a quiet town, its gardens full of sweet-smelling roses, carnations, wallflowers, jasmine and lilacs, with walnut trees branching in the yards, and streets filled

  with the intoxicating smell of lime and acacia blossoms. All of a sudden the city is a cacophony of sounds, as inhabitants begin to get ready for war.
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    Dr Slavka Mihajlović with her husband and son in 1922


  




  Convoys of peasants arrive from nearby villages and proceed to report to their district command offices. Their fathers, wives and children follow, carrying food in colourful bags: boiled eggs,

  cheese, bread, perhaps a roast chicken, and a bottle of plum brandy.




  We watch the war veterans; they pass in front of us in peasant garb and footwear, wearing military caps from last year’s war. People walk the streets all day. The youngsters are singing,

  the veterans and pensioners sitting in front of cafes. Some shake their heads in concern. Everywhere we hear the same question: ‘What is this? Are we really at war again?’




  That day Austria-Hungary declared war on Serbia.




  On the night of 28th July Slavka Mihajlović is on duty at the General State Hospital.




  29th July




  Before dawn today, at 2 a.m., artillery fire thunders from the direction of Zemun. The explosion echoes around Belgrade and the hospital shakes. We all jump out of bed and, more

  out of astonishment than fear and stay up till dawn. So it is true! The war has started. Big Austria has moved against small war-torn Serbia!




  Since early this morning our hospital has been in a state of excitement. All ward heads and our hospital chief, all doctors, conscripts and nurses are ordered to report to their district command

  offices at once. They are all leaving for new posts – for war and uncertainty. All patients who are able to walk got up to go home.




  Lunch is over quickly. Around noon enemy gunboats appear on the Sava and the Danube rivers and start a bombardment. Buildings near the cathedral are hit first.




  There isn’t a soul in the streets. It’s as if the whole town had faded away. Suddenly we see thick smoke rising from somewhere downtown, followed by sparks and flames. We see

  something burning but don’t know what it is.




  The bombing goes on until dark. In the hospital everything is quiet. Only the moans and the muffled whimpering of the sick patients occasionally interrupt the quiet of the evening.




  The clock strikes half past eleven. As I flip through a surgical textbook preparing for tomorrow’s surgery there is a sudden explosion, a terrible noise. The building shakes, windows

  shatter and broken glass spills over the floor. The patients are screaming. Some are jumping out of their beds, pale and bewildered, while those unable to move cry out for help from their beds.

  Terrified nurses run from all sides and gather around me. We are all pale with shock, unable to understand what could have happened. Then there is another explosion, and another, and then silence

  again.




  30th July




  Hardly anyone slept last night. At dawn Dr Radovanović inspects the wards. He tells us the bridge on the Sava river was blown up last night when

  an enemy train tried to cross it. There was a great explosion and half of the bridge collapsed into the water. At the same time, a big ship full of enemy troops attempted a landing on our side of

  the river right under the bridge, so when the bridge collapsed it took the boat and its soldiers under with it. The first enemy attempt to enter Serbia has been thwarted.




  Several of the soldiers wounded when the bridge collapsed arrived on our ward early in the morning. Exhausted and pale, suffering from severe blood loss, the wounded got their turn at the

  operating theatre early this morning. I bandaged their wounds straight away and put them to bed. These must be the first men wounded in this war!




  The conflict remained local for only a matter of days. Russia began partial mobilisation on 28th July in support of Serbia and the German government backed the ultimatum

  which meant that war would be difficult to contain. It would be another two weeks before Austro-Hungarian troops crossed into Serbia but by then the war would reach far beyond the Balkans.




  Slavka Mihajlović continued to work through the first months of the conflict in Belgrade. As a woman she was not subject to

  military recruitment and was soon the only doctor left to take charge of caring for civilians at the General State Hospital.




  





  Chapter 2
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  SETTING OFF TO THE FRONT




  August 1914–January 1915




  On 30th July 1914, as the first Austrian shells fell on Belgrade, Russia, Serbia’s Slav ally, began to mobilise its men. The gradual slide into war now accelerated

  all over Europe. An ever more frantic exchange of telegrams between cousins Kaiser Wilhelm of Germany and Tsar Nicholas of Russia did little to postpone the inevitable, for the war was now in the

  hands of the military. With Russian troops on the move, Germany, in turn, began to mobilise its armies.




  On 1st August, as Germany declared ‘defensive war’ on Russia, France, allied to Russia by a pact of mutual assistance, mobilised against Germany. Two fronts, on the west and

  east, opened up immediately: on 2nd August German military patrols crossed into France; on the following day Russian troops marched over Germany’s borders. All the nations involved were

  convinced they were fighting a defensive war, forced upon them by someone else. Meanwhile, the argument raged in Britain as to whether it could stay out of the war.




  The question was answered with an emphatic no on August 4th. On this day neutral Belgium rejected Germany’s request of free passage through its territory to attack France’s less

  fortified border; Germany ignored their refusal and invaded. Britain, allied to Belgium, joined the war that evening at 11 p.m. Its own imperial interests were at stake, should a powerful Germany

  come to dominate the high seas.




  Little over a month since the assassination of Archduke Franz Ferdinand in Sarajevo, five empires were at war and millions of soldiers were mobilised. Their armies included the first of what

  by the end of the war would be nearly 9 million Britons, 8.5 million French, 12 million Russians, 11 million Germans, and close to 8 million Austro-Hungarians.7




  For the time being, Italy, Romania, Bulgaria and a few other nations remained neutral, waiting to see where their interests lay before declaring their allegiances.




  *




  Paul Hub from Stetten, a small village near Stuttgart, Germany, volunteers immediately in response to Kaiser Wilhelm’s call for ‘true patriots’. Two days

  before departure for training, Hub, who is twenty-four, becomes engaged to his girlfriend, twenty-one-year-old Maria Thumm. On the day of departure, he sends his first letter home.




  4th August 1914




  Dear parents,




  My suitcase is all packed. At 2 p.m. this afternoon I’ll be leaving Ulm on a troop train. My life as a soldier has begun. Please keep my washing a little longer, until I

  ask you for it. Unpack my clothes in the meantime, because they’ll get damaged if they’re squashed in the suitcase for too long. Maria’s letters are in the engagement case,

  together with my watch chains and other keepsakes that remind me of the happy times I’ve had with her. Please look after them. I hope I’ll be coming back. Think of me when you unpack my

  things. A final greeting to you all as a civilian. From this evening I’ll be sending you military war greetings.




  *




  Robert Cude, an unattached twenty-one-year-old from south London, also has no military experience, but enlists immediately when Lord Kitchener, the British Secretary of

  State for War, issues a call for volunteers.8 Cude has no great commitment to his factory job, and fancies the adventure and change of scene promised to

  all members of the new ‘Kitchener’s Army’. Yet things don’t immediately go as Robert had imagined. Having lost his first diary notebook, he recalls his attempts to join up

  and the first days of soldiering a few months later.




  Within a few days of war being declared, I make my first attempt at joining a branch of ‘His Majesty’s Forces’. I try the Navy. Report at Admiralty, pass

  doctor, also Educational Officer, and am sent home to await orders. Within seven days am off to Devonport for my trade test. After about ten days I fail, not so much inefficiency, as my inability

  to stomach orders.




  Next few days am unable to settle down. There is a certain amount of Personal Pride in being part, (if a very minor part), of the War Machine. Now it is plain Mr Nobody. It is impossible.

  However, I resume my old occupation pending my joining the Army. This latter is inevitable, if it lasts another week or two.




  On September 7, meet three of the lads at the gate of the firm. The question that has been on the tip of our tongues for days now is asked. Result, four more present themselves at New Cross Town

  Hall and duly pass the Doctor. Not sworn in today, 24 hours grace to attend to our affairs.




  September 8 at 9 a.m. we are sworn Privates of the East Kent Regiment and before 11 a.m. are on our way to Woolwich Barracks. On [September] 9, however, move off to our depot at Canterbury.

  Here, if we were expected, no steps were taken to receive us, and so no food awaited us and no sleeping accommodation. I sleep in, or on, Barrack Square, inside it was too ‘lively’!

  However passed jolly evening and night. Very little breakfast awaited us. Was one of the unlucky ones myself. Could not stomach the fight for a bit of greasy bacon. Still, to add insult to injury,

  am told to wash up the plates of those who had been fortunate. During morning, am issued with 1 shirt, 1 pair pants, 1 towel and 1 small piece of soap, ‘No Khaki’. This is a

  disappointment indeed. Do a few Movements today to keep us out of mischief. Such as forming fours by numbers, and turning right or left, also by numbers, in between whiles, take off fellow,

  Buffs.9 What a cosmopolitan crew we are! All manner of wearing apparel. Parade in afternoon, and am soon packed off with hundreds of others, all the

  younger men, to Purfleet.10 We are to help form another new Division, remainder go to Dover. We duly arrive Purfleet at 8 p.m., herded in tents 22 in

  each. No food, manage to sleep a little with someone sleeping on top of me. Breakfast arrived at last, one sausage per man, no bread, then beginning to resent treatment. Parades every few minutes.

  Am sick of this playing at soldiers. Dinner comes up. Menu ‘Warm water with pieces of a substance which was termed meat floating on top’. Nothing to eat it out of. Cannot eat or drink

  broth without plate or mug. 3 p.m., camp in uproar, armed pickets on gates, only infuriated men more. Boys demand food, failing this, leave to go home to get some.




  Less than impressed with his first experience of British military organisation, Cude, along with several of his friends, heads home to recover.




  Leave for 3 days granted and as have not enough for a train up, Charley and Walter Household, J. Bell and myself are soon putting our left leg foremost, 18 miles to London. Get

  left at Rainham and soon at Blackwall Tunnel. Arrive home 1 a.m.




  12 September eat a loaf before I am satisfied and soon forget my troubles in sleep. Absolutely the first sleep since I enlisted. Return on Sunday night and find things working fairly smoothly.

  Fully 20 per cent of men did not return. Suppose they failed to see the humour of the thing, or, their Patriotism had run dry. However, we start ‘soldiering’ in earnest now. Reveille 6

  a.m. and Parades throughout day. We are young and enthusiastic, so we cheerfully bear it although the soldier’s ‘privilege’, ie Grousing, is beginning to be manifest.




  By this date, nearly half a million British volunteers have enlisted, although most won’t see action for many months. While Robert Cude and his fellow volunteers

  still pass their time bayonet charging at straw sacks in Essex, over 100, 000 professional soldiers of the British Expeditionary Force are already engaged in heavy fighting against German troops in

  France and Belgium.




  *




  Paul Tuffrau, twenty-seven, a passionate French patriot from a family of prosperous Bordeaux vineyard proprietors, is swept up in the first wave of mobilisation. A highly

  educated teacher, Tuffrau has just completed his military service, entering the war as a junior officer. In one of his first diary entries, he admits to feeling ‘dizzy and light-headed in the

  atmosphere of excitement’.




  He is leading his company of soldiers deep into the territory of Alsace-Lorraine. This long-disputed territory has been in German hands for forty years, since the Franco-Prussian War of

  1870–71, and now the French are determined to claim it back. Just three weeks into battle, life on twenty-four-hour alert is already taking its toll on Tuffrau’s men, as he records in

  his diary.




  23nd August 1914, Rembercourt




  Yesterday, I got to the trenches at 1 p.m. I could hear the sound of artillery some way off. My men slept where they could – on the bare ground, in the sun or in the shade

  of the trenches. The dappled light under the plum trees, the men snoozing under the noonday sun as artillery boomed in the distance.
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    Paul Tuffrau in Paris, 9th August 1914


  




  In the evening we set up the machine guns on the railway line. One of my men, Nérot – short, with little grey eyes – refuses to go to sleep with the other men in the nearby

  barn. He’s made his bed between the rails, next to his machine gun. He has straw for a mattress and two cartridge boxes for pillows. I lend him my blanket. He’s a no-nonsense sort of

  lad, a bit grumpy sometimes, but you can always rely on him.




  25th August




  In the grey twilight, dull crump of artillery fire, shrapnel exploding above the trees, smoke rising from villages on fire. Endlessly waiting in the gloom of grey roads for orders or information

  is very nerve-racking. We sleep where we can. I’m in a cart with my face pressed into the canvas. It is raining. The searchlights look for planes in the clouds. The artillery shuffles by,

  accompanied by a constant stream of stretcher-bearers.




  Tuffrau’s hopes of liberating Alsace-Lorraine are quickly quashed when his troop is ordered to retreat back across the French border.




  29th August




  All sorts of vehicles on the road – big carts pulled by oxen, full of women and children, some crying, some laughing. Liancourt, Roye. Enthusiastic welcome, wine, cider,

  chocolate. Very different from the people of Lorraine. The happiness of the soldiers! We pass two British soldiers on the road and the whole column cheers.




  2nd September




  Wake up at 4 a.m. We climb onto a wooded hill overlooking the plains. We ready our weapons in a potato field. We dig trenches in the fine soil. Suddenly, an order to withdraw.

  Later I heard that Major Brun had reacted to the order by shouting, ‘To think we have been preparing for the war for forty years, and now this!’




  Paul Tuffrau and his fellow soldiers continue their retreat in the face of the German advance. By now, German troops are within 30 miles of Paris, the government leaves for

  Bordeaux and a third of the city’s inhabitants are fleeing the capital. Tuffrau and his men join the Allied French and British troops defending the heart of France.




  The fate of Paris, and of France itself, will be decided on the River Marne, east of the capital. The French Marshal Joffre issues an Order of the Day: ‘At the time when the battle

  upon which hangs the fate of France is about to begin, all must remember that the time for looking back is past; every effort must be concentrated on attacking and throwing the enemy back. Troops

  that can no longer advance must at any cost keep the ground that has been won, and must die where they stand rather than give way.’




  On 5th September 1914, the Battle of the Marne, the first monumental battle on the Western Front, begins. Over a million French soldiers with British support slightly outnumber the German

  forces. As the German troops near Paris, Tuffrau and his men are defending the village of Barcy, within sight of the River Marne.




  6th September




  A beautiful day. We march all morning and around noon we reach a deep gully below a little village now very familiar to us, Barcy. German shells rain down methodically and

  relentlessly – screaming, awesome explosions, dense black and reddish smoke. I’m ordered to support the Sale company. I push forward, desperate to catch up with them, but they are

  advancing too quickly. We’ll make up the ground.




  Bullets start whizzing by from unseen guns. I stop several times to regroup my men. I manage to collect just one artillery unit. We pass a colonel who points me to the left of a row of poplars.

  Following a gully, I squeeze my company in between two others in a beetroot field. They advance rapidly and, before the angle they form disappears, I try to protect them by firing blind. Their

  march forward is magnificent but too fast, too close together. One rank kneels, one stands up. We advance with them, but my artillery men are way behind. Finally here comes Chamoutin, all upset:

  ‘Poor Maire . . . a bullet in the heart. He only just got there.’ I realise the supplies won’t reach us, because we’re going too fast, and certain people who talk a good war

  are over-cautious, such as fat L., who will use this as an excuse not to send them. In any case, we must push forward and if possible support the bayonet charge, which is imminent.




  Some men try to crawl to the rear, hiding in the beetroot. I go over and threaten them with my gun. They claim they are wounded or helping a casualty. Bullets whistle by non-stop, from all

  directions. It is quite a job to get the men to stand up. I reach the edge of the field but I cannot get the second machine-gun unit to budge an inch, even by insulting them. Of the first unit,

  only Nérot follows me, looking as resolute and fierce as ever. He is carrying a trivet on his shoulder. ‘Why is B. not here?’ – ‘He says it’s pointless, not

  enough cartridges left.’ There are four hundred of them left. I am furious, but there is no time to dwell on it. The men fix bayonets, a flag is unfurled. It’s too late to get to my own

  regiment. I pick up a dead man’s weapon, slip on a cartridge belt and join the advancing troop – it is rather scattered and pushing forward in every direction, urged on by the bugles.

  What’s that I’m stepping on? The dead and wounded, friends and foes. Bullets fly past, then the brutal blast of artillery fire right in front of us. The charge tatters, stops. Mulleret,

  the flag-bearer, is on his back on the other side of the road, his head lying on a sack. Behind a haystack, I come across the flag, a few men and a colonel, shaking like a leaf, his tunic undone,

  right arm in a sling, shirt covered in blood. He comes toward me; I can’t remember what he said. All around, behind piles of grain, men are lying down, shooting or just waiting. Through the

  haze, you can just make out the rise of a hillside. Is that the Marne?




  I am bandaging Mulleret, who is wounded below the left shoulder. His eyes are closed, his face still has some colour. ‘Is that you, Tuffrau?’ He takes my hand, squeezes it tightly:

  ‘You won’t leave me?’ He barely complains about the pain, except for the odd wince: ‘Unfasten my belt; under the shirt . . . I have some gold in my belt. Leave that. But

  take my handgun.’ All the while gunfire, artillery. The flag had tried to advance, but must have been driven back as I notice it on my right, a little further back, behind a large

  haystack.




  

    

    



    

      [image: ]


    




    A page of Tuffrau’s diary for 1914


  




  Bugles are rallying the men ‘To the flag!’ Some who had been beating retreat now head for the tricolour, rifle in hand. I gather some of them and we turn around, heading for the

  battle. But the gunfire is intense and we have to stop to fire back. All of a sudden we’re under a hail of bullets. The entire line falls back and I can hear some of them shouting, ‘Our

  own 75s11 are firing at us!’ I order them to be silent, they could create a full-blown panic. This time, however, more of the men are retreating,

  in reasonable order. We head for a small gully and pause there, while the German shells scream and explode above us continuously. ‘Halt! Turn around! Forward!’ I keep shouting, and

  these brave soldiers do turn around. I notice Dumesnil who is holding the flag. A sergeant close to me breaks into the Marseillaise and everyone joins in. But in this incredible noise Valmy’s

  song is drowned out.






  We march on. From behind a haystack on the left, almost within reach, Germans emerge, their hands in the air. Thirty men surround them to disarm them, when suddenly rat-a-tat-tat, the machine

  guns begin and I realise that we will not advance any further.




  We’re all on the ground in the beetroot, not moving, not shooting. We can’t see anything. The bullets keep coming. I look at my watch, it is 4:30 – two hours of clear daylight

  left. To cap it all, the sun sets behind us. We have lost the support of both artillery and infantry. German rifles crackle incessantly, they are king of the battlefield.
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